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Foreword 

 

SEVEN years make a significant period in the 

lifetime of a human being, it is said; perhaps also in 

the life of a Church. In 1949 we celebrated the 

Jubilee of Anniesland Cross as a congregation, 

worshipping then in their new building, which is 

today the Church Hall. This year it is the Jubilee of 

the Church itself, whose foundations were laid in 

1905, and which was opened for public worship in 

the summer of 1906. The Kirk Session therefore 

decided to issue this booklet, as a supplement to the 

one produced in 1949 by Mr. J. P. Graham and 

myself, bringing the story of the congregation up-to-

date. We also resolved to include a brief summary 

of the, events recorded in the earlier booklet, so that 

those who have joined our membership since 1949 

(amounting to over 450 persons) might be able to 

see the story as a whole. 

 

The work was entrusted to the Editor of our 

congregational magazine, Miss Elizabeth MacLean, 

M.A., and to myself; the bulk of the writing has 

been done by Miss MacLean, except for this 

Foreword  'the summary, and the epilogue. May we 

express our thanks to all who have helped us with 

information and suggestions; particularly to Mr. T. 

McCook for the loan of cuttings and other 

documents relating to tire opening of the Church; to 

Mr. and Mrs. M. Orr; to the Kirk Session for 

permission to consult the records to verify fact and 

figures; to Miss Jean Findlater and Miss Helen 

Allen for typing and proofreading; and to the 

printers for their help and advice. 

 

May 1 express my own thanks to Miss MacLean, 

with whom it has been a pleasure to work. She has 

given good service to the congregation as our 

Editor, in that following a succession of capable 

editors whom we have had in these seven years, and 

lost owing to their departures from the district, or 

from the country; namely Mr. J. P. Graham, Mr. W. 

White, Mr. J. M. Robertson and Miss Brenda 

Young, M.A. Miss MacLean has put a great deal of 

time, thought and work into the production of this 

booklet, and we are much indebted to her, and thank 

her warmly. 

 

 It is our hope that this brief record of people and 

events will help to inspire and encourage others to 

take part in the Master's service here in Anniesland 

Cross. 

 

HARRY C. THOMSON 

 

 

1885 - 1949 

 

In these opening pages we give a summary of the 

previous history of Anniesland Cross Church, as 

published in the 1949 booklet. Our Church was an 

offshoot from Gairbraid U.P. Church, Maryhill, 

whose minister, the Rev. W. Duncan, took a very 

active part in the setting up of a place of worship for 

the people who had gone from Maryhill to the 

Church Extension area of Anniesland, where coal-

pits and quarries, blaes bings and brickworks, went 

side by side with agriculture. It was partly industrial 

and partly a country district, and the Cross itself was 

a much smaller and quieter place in those days. 

 

The hall was begun in 1898, and opened for worship 

in 1899; and the Rev. Robert L. Browning, M.A. 

became its first settled minister in 1900. Steady 

progress was made under his leadership, and funds 

were gathered for the building of a Church, a great 

bazaar in the McLellan Galleries being still 

remembered. The memorial stone (which can be 

seen on the stair leading to the north gallery) was 

laid in November 1905, and the building was 

opened for worship in the summer of 1906, the first 

Communion being on 21st October, when 214 

members were present. The distinction of being the 

first baby to be baptized in it belongs to Mrs. 

Elizabeth Hart. 

 

The Great War altered the life of the Church, like 

that of everything else, and it proved difficult to 

settle down again. In 1920 Mrs. Browning who had 

been a staunch helper, died suddenly and in 1925 

Mr. Browning resigned, although he lived on as 

senior minister until 1937. He was a man of strong 

but not unkindly personality, and left his mark on 

the life of Anniesland Cross, with the Church as a 

visible memorial of his work. 
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The Rev. C. Howard Davies, B.D. followed him, 

and during his ministry Knightswood began to 

spring up, adding large numbers to the membership 

of our congregation before the new churches of St. 

Margaret's and St. David's were built. The total rose 

to 580 by 1928, although the financial depression of 

those days brought anxieties as well. Mr. Davies 

started the uniformed organisations, and also the 

congregational magazine; and in his time 

Anniesland Cross decided to enter the union with 

the Church of Scotland in 1929. In that year Mr. 

Davies, who had been well supported by his wife, 

left for Burnbank; and after ministering in Creich, 

returned to become chaplain to Knightswood 

Hospital until his sudden death in 1948. He had a 

remarkable memory for faces, and is remembered 

by not a few of our older members. 

 

He was succeeded by the Rev. D. H. Gerrard, M.A. 

in 1929, and the new minister found himself faced 

with a difficult situation in the first years of his 

work. The new churches in Knightswood naturally 

drew away a number of the people from there who 

had been coming to Anniesland Cross, for the world 

in general, and the Church suffered and so the 

membership dropped sharply in numbers. At the 

same time these were lean years financially with the 

rest. Mr. Gerrard, ably helped by his wife, tackled 

the task of uniting the depleted congregation in 

worship and service; many pleasant social events 

helped to get the people together, and also to raise 

money for the necessary repairs and improvements, 

such as new lighting and boiler and alterations to the 

hall. Mr. Gerrard's earnest preaching, and his 

steadfast and faithful ministry, brought the Church 

safely through this difficult period; and just before 

the war came in 1939 he went to Fintry from which 

some years ago he retired. He and Mrs. Gerrard are 

living in Hyndand, and maintain a very kindly 

interest in Anniesland Cross, where they are 

certainly not forgotten. 

 

The next minister was the Rev. Richard 

Cunningham, A., this being his first charge. His task 

also was clearly difficult one, since the war with its 

evacuees and separation of families, its, Sunday 

work and- duties, its blacked-out windows and 

shortages and rationing, made it extremely hard to 

keep a congregation together and continue its 

activities. To these drawbacks were added the perils 

of bombing, which struck the district though not the 

Church. Mr. Cunningham however, assisted by 

capable officebearers, managed to steer the 

congregation successfully through all these 

hardships into the post-war era. 

 

He got married during his ministry in Anniesland, 

and his son was born in 1941. The fine Communion 

Table and chairs were added to the furnishings of 

the Church, and other improvements carried out 

under his leadership. The increase in the 

membership to just over 600, the highest total in its 

history till then, and the healthy state of the various 

organisations are an indication of the energy he had 

put into the work of the Church. In 1946 he became 

minister of St. Andrew's Nairobi, from which he 

returned to Scotland to a charge in Jedburgh. 

 

1946 meant for the congregation another period of 

resettlement after the war, with servicemen and 

women returning to civilian life where the fall in 

"overtime" and the rising cost of most things 

presented spiritual and material problems. In 

October of that year the Rev. Harry C. Thomson, 

B.D. was inducted as minister, coming from the 

country parish of Lethendy and Kinloch in 

Perthshire, although having been born and brought 

up in Glasgow. The congregation acquired a manse, 

for the first time in its history, and the debt was paid 

off in three years, thanks to energetic collectors. 

 

The membership increased steadily in numbers, 

rising by 1949 to over 800. This brought increases 

also in the number of elders and office-bearers 

needed, and necessitated opening the gallery for 

Communion Sundays. It also eased the financial 

problem, since the givings showed a corresponding 

rise. 

 

In 1948 we bought the ground alongside the hall, 

and also undertook to sponsor the work in the new 

Church Extension area of Garscube-Netherton, 

exactly fifty years after Gairbraid had sponsored us. 

This new building was opened in June 1949, and our 

congregation provided many helpers, including Mr 

D. B. Paton who acted as its Session Clerk as well 

as ours, Mr. D. C. Allen and Mr. Hugh Martin to 

take charge of the Sunday School, Mr. J. Finlay as 
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B.B. captain and Miss H. Brebner as Guide captain, 

along with other keen workers as assessor elders and 

so on. 

 

In September of that year we celebrated the Jubilee 

of the congregation, special services being 

conducted by the Rev. David Steel, B.D. on Sunday 

the 11th, and various displays and concerts and 

other functions being held during the week. It was 

recorded at that time that the only two surviving 

original members of the congregation of 1899 were 

Mr. and Mrs. David McCook of 234 Bearsden Road. 

Mrs. McCook died in 1954, and Mr. McCook 

passed away as this booklet was being printed. 

 

At this point we end this summary, necessarily brief 

and factual, of our past history, and take up the story 

of the succeeding years.   

 

1949 - 1956 

 

The years have sped past since we held the Jubilee 

services in 1949 and again in 1956 we turn our 

thoughts to further rejoicing. We pause to give 

thanks for what has gone before us and savour our 

ideas and hopes for the years ahead. The past seven 

years have contained their fair share of joy and 

sorrow and we now turn to take a closer look at 

them. 

 

October 1949 saw the celebrations for the fifty years 

of worship at " Anniesland Cross " over and the 

usual run of church activities begun once again. Our 

minister, Mr. Thomson, and Mrs. Thomson settled 

into the round of duties and responsibilities of the 

work, as did the congregation. A time of spiritual 

strengthening had been experienced in the Jubilee 

services and during the week which preceded them 

people had enjoyed themselves at the various social 

evenings drawn up by the different organisations-

however October came and old clothes and porridge 

with it. 

 

Early in 1950 the Glasgow Churches' Campaign was 

begun. This was an effort to bring the people of the 

district into closer contact with the church that there 

they might come to know God and the power of 

Christ in their lives. Many elders and members 

visited homes in the area, getting to know the people 

and offering them a personal invitation. As a result 

of this campaign Mr. Thomson began a prayer 

meeting which met once a month on a week night 

and this continued right up until April 1955 when it 

took on a different form in order to meet a new 

need. 

 

These first few months of 1950 show the church, to 

be, in a very healthy state. The uniformed 

organisations were thriving-Brownies, Guides, 

Rangers, Cubs and Scouts. The Junior Choir which 

had been begun by Mr. John Brackenridge had made 

great strides and after the success of the operetta 

"Princess Chrysanthemum" the previous season, 

was practising for the Church of Scotland Musical 

Festival. 

 

Unfortunately Mr. Brackenridge was not spared to 

see his choir go on from strength to strength-his 

death in June 1950 caused sorrow to all. He was 

much respected as an elder and was well liked by 

the Sunday School children whom he had led in 

singing at their services. The work was carried on 

by Miss MacCormick, herself a former member of 

the Orpheus Choir, and by Mr. David Paton who 

had been a staunch helper. Mr. Brackenridge's 

daughter, Nan, also helped to continue the work 

which her father had begun and at the Concert in 

1955, organised by the Praise Festival Committee, 

she handed over a shield -The John Brackenridge 

Shield- for Annual Competition by Primary Choirs. 

At the same festival the choir had the honour of 

winning the McPherson Memorial Cup and this was 

later presented to their conductor, Miss 

MacCormick, in the month of October. 

 

The Church lost another valuable servant when Mr. 

David A. Robertson died in the spring of 1950. Mr. 

Robertson had been an elder since 1935 and was 

noted for his many acts of kindness. He was (a 

Sunday School Teacher and) a member of the choir 

for many years, and his quiet humour was enjoyed 

by those who worked with him. 

 

The Woman's Guild, in addition to their Tuesday 

devotional service and visitation of the sick, were 

busy raising funds for the church with a "Spring 
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Fayre" and Jumble Sale among their other wiles and 

devices which are much appreciated. 

 

The Men's Guild were not to take a back seat either. 

They had enjoyed overwhelming success with their 

show the "Dixielanders" and with the stage once in 

their blood they were not slow in organising another 

entertainment to be known as the "Roundabouts." 

More congregations than that of Anniesland Cross 

had a share in this merriment. With October 1950 

came Mr. Thomson's fourth anniversary as minister 

of Anniesland Cross Church. 

 

In 1946, he and Mrs. Thomson came to us from 

Blairgowrie where Mr. Thomson had been minister 

of the Parish Church of Lethendy and Kinloch. In 

their five years together with us we had increased in 

number as a congregation and the church hummed 

with the activity of all its enthusiastic organisations, 

as well as offering the spiritual guidance and 

strengthening which is the reason for its being. Mrs. 

Thomson had given most generously of her time and 

energy in helping her husband in the work of the 

church. She constantly encouraged the Woman's 

Guild, taking her share in the term of office, and 

often there was an attendance of about a hundred at 

the Tuesday meetings. Mrs. Thomson was a grand 

organiser and a person of decided action with a view 

to the practical. This was to be seen in the additional 

amenities to the kitchen by the way of new 

cupboards, crockery and a gas cooker. She formed a 

Rangers Company for girls who had left the Guides 

and also gave her support to the Choir and the Girls' 

Association. Mr. Thomson, having studied music 

considerably, was an accomplished singer and 

pianist, and the congregation, at many different 

functions, shared in the enjoyment of her ability. 

Thus we see the minister and his wife firmly 

established in our friendship, able to look back with 

modest pride on four years' work well done and 

looking forward to the years ahead. 

 

Many had realised that Mrs. Thomson was carrying 

on her work courageously although she was not in 

the best of health, but all hoped that rest and care 

would bring her a full recovery. However it was not 

to be. At the end of November Mr. Thomson 

suffered the loss of his wife and the congregation 

mourned with him. We had lost a church worker of 

tremendous enthusiasm, an encourager and a friend. 

Mr. Thomson had lost the one who had given him 

happiness, support and understanding--his loss was 

too deep for words to be able to express. 

 

The congregation were united in wishing to have 

some tangible memorial to one who had worked so 

well amongst them. Mrs. Thomson herself had 

introduced flowers at the Preparatory Service, and 

she had always hoped that one day white linen 

would be provided for the Communion Services-this 

was the form which it took. Now at our services this 

fresh crisp cover on all the pews emphasises the fact 

that we are all sharing together at the Lord's Table. 

The minister, in memory of his wife, presented the 

church with a lectern in light oak and this completes 

the balance and the beauty of the chancel. At the 

memorial service held in June the sermon was 

preached by the Rev. J. Russell Anderson, M.A., the 

brother of the late Mrs. Thomson. Here, last tribute 

was paid to one who had spent herself so willingly 

in the service of God. She had built up so much in 

the district of Scotstoun where she spent her early 

life, in the Parish in Blairgowrie and in Anniesland 

Cross, and that work stands as a constant memorial 

to her. In our own church a plaque was placed on 

the wall at the end of the pew where we were 

accustomed to see her sit. 

 

In 1951 a Dramatic Society was added to the many 

organisations of the church. Mr. John Hislop was 

always keen to start such a society, but when it was 

actually formed unfortunately he was ill. Mr. John 

Arnott had the honour of being the first president. 

 

The Guides were thriving under the leadership of 

Miss Dorothy Turnbull who was followed by Miss 

Margaret Scott and Miss Nancy Douglas. At present 

there is a company of 22 girls captained by Miss 

Jessie Robertson, with Miss Nancy Mallow as her 

lieutenant. The Brownie Pack has also been 

faithfully maintained throughout the years. The 

201st pack was led by Miss Dorothy Craig with 

Miss Joan Overend as Tawny Owl, and owing to the 

large numbers attending, a second pack was formed 

in 1947-201st A-with Miss Nan Brown as the first 

Brown Owl and Miss Betty Fryer, now Mrs. D. 
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Gray, as Tawny Owl. These two groups are still 

progressing enthusiastically. After many years of 

service Miss Craig resigned in 1956, and the 201st 

is now led by Miss Sheena Baillie, assisted by Miss 

Morag Mallow, while the A pack is run by Miss 

Irene Richardson, Miss Flora McNicol and Miss 

Marie Pringle. 

 

As has been mentioned Miss Joan Overend worked 

for a number of years with the Brownies and she 

also gave her help to the Sunday School where she 

was a teacher until her marriage in 1953, when she 

became Mrs. McLean. It was with great sorrow that 

the congregation learned of her death in June 1955. 

 

The life of the church ticked steadily on into 1952. 

In February of that year King George VI died. The 

sympathy of the people went out to the Royal 

Family and especially to the new young Queen 

Elizabeth who was accepting such exacting 

responsibilities so early in life. 

              

The year passed quickly, packed full of the usual 

regular activity. The Woman's Guild continued with 

their treats for old people and parties for orphans, 

and finished the year with a particularly big sale of 

work aimed at reducing the ground debt. The ground 

adjoining the church was purchased for the sum of 

£430 in 1948 and the debt was squared off in 1954. 

              

By the month of May the organisations were 

slackening pace and could all look back on a 

successful season. Festivities were approaching in 

view of the coronation of Queen Elizabeth in June 

1953. This took place on a day of rain in London but 

Scotland enjoyed glorious sunshine- a fact which 

prompted some to say that Edinburgh would have 

been a more favourable place for the ceremony. 

Westminster Abbey underwent vast repairs for this 

important occasion and who knows, perhaps the 

idea caught on. Anyway in the summer of that year 

repairs were made to the church hall which was over 

fifty years old. The building of the hall was begun in 

1898 and it was ready to be used for public worship 

in August of the following year. The hall was in 

need of several major repairs, and the work was 

undertaken during July and August when it was not 

in use to the same extent. The gable was refaced and 

repaired, and the floor was renewed. Fluorescent 

lighting was introduced to give a brighter hall. 

 

Attention was next given to the church itself. It had 

last been decorated in 1938 when Mr. Watkinson, a 

former Session Clerk, took a great interest in 

improvements which were made. The church had 

been opened in 1906 and it was decided to have it 

looking its best in preparation for the Jubilee in 

1956. All this was a tremendous financial 

undertaking, but the Board was confident that it 

would be given the support of the congregation in its 

effort to make the church and hall pleasanter places 

of worship and to stand these buildings in good 

stead for the work of the future. It was decided that 

all the members would be given envelopes in which 

they could put a contribution to help cover the debt 

incurred. These envelopes were delivered once 

every two months with the congregational 

magazine. The distributors were most faithful in this 

work. The envelopes were started in the month of 

September 1953. The idea was that the magazine 

distributors would call back at the end of the month 

for the contribution but thee were also boxes in the 

vestibule where the envelope could be "posted." 

Some people gave one large amount which they felt 

would be a fair share of the cost for one member, 

but most of us preferred to give month by month, 

realizing that the more we managed to give the, 

sooner we would be free from debt. It was a 

victorious cry in May 1955 which announced the 

end of the Redecoration Fund and the squaring of 

our accounts. During those nineteen months or so 

£1,116 had been collected, and we had received 

contributions of £150 each from two trust funds-the 

Ballahouston Trust and the Ferguson Bequest. This 

brought us to £1,416 which covered our expenses. 

In 1898 the church hall had been built for just £34 

more. 

 

The actual painting of the church was carried out 

during July and August of 1954 when the Sunday 

services were held in the hall. By September we had 

a church which was a credit to us-attractively 

freshened and the lettering round the stained glass 

window clear for all to see; "Worship the Lord in 

the Beauty of Holiness." 
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The ladies of the Woman's Guild, under the 

presidency of Mrs. Lawson, worked very hard to 

provide a rich red carpet for the chancel-this gave 

the finishing touch. At an earlier date the Guild 

presented the church with two Ornamental brass 

vases which are filled with flowers for the Sunday 

services throughout the year. The Flower fund of the 

church is organised by Mrs. Ramsay-the flowers 

being gifted by members of the congregation-and on 

Sunday evening the ladies of the Guild take them to 

the sick. Another attention of the Guild, not widely 

known, is that of sending flowers to every baby 

baptised in our church. This gesture is much 

appreciated by the mothers. The Guild can count 

many devoted members in its history. Mrs. Greig 

was one who had given long service and was herself 

president for many years. She died in the summer of 

1952. Another faithful member, Mrs. Tom McCook, 

was lost in the spring of this present year. It was 

with sorrow that we learned of Mrs. McCook's 

illness, bravely borne, and of her death in the month 

of April. 

 

The Badminton Society has continued to flourish 

over the years. Sometimes it has been victorious, 

other times it has been battling in order not to lose 

ground in its League position, but the atmosphere of 

the club is constantly friendly, and Wednesday and 

Saturday evenings are enjoyed by all who 

participate. In September 1954 it was decided to 

hold additional activities for the young people, and a 

Guild Fellowship was begun, the first president 

being Mr. Thomson Deas. It is held in the back hall 

after the Sunday evening service and there is usually 

a varied syllabus of addresses, discussions, brains 

trusts and so forth. Dr. Thomson sometimes acts as 

chairman when he suggests a controversial subject 

which stimulates the young people to thrash out the 

problem for themselves. Dr. Thomson has an 

excellent way of encouraging them to stand on their 

own feet and yet he is there to give them a guiding 

hand when it is needed. 

 

September 1954 saw a change in the Sunday School. 

Mr. Archibald Brown, who had been a faithful 

Superintendent there since 1941 retired from the 

post but all were delighted to find him continuing as 

a teacher. All in the Sunday School are very fond of 

Mr. Brown-his friendly approach and his kindly 

disposition are greatly appreciated. Mr. Duncan 

Allen was welcomed as the new Superintendent. 

Over the past two years Mr. Allen has been 

stimulating for all who teach in the Sunday School. 

He is a person of great energy and has encouraged 

the teachers to concern themselves with the 

conducting of the service as well as with the 

teaching of the lesson. 

 

Towards the end of the year preparations were being 

made in Glasgow for the " All Scotland Crusade " 

which was to take place in the spring of 1955. Mr. 

Billy Graham, a preacher from the United States, 

had been invited by the Churches in Scotland to give 

a series of addresses. The Kelvin Hall had been 

reserved for this purpose and we were amazed to see 

the change, which was brought about in this familiar 

building. We were accustomed to seeing it lined 

with shiny cars at the motor show or noisy with all 

the fun of the fair, at carnival time, but it was 

difficult to recognise the place after the workmen 

had finished with it for the Crusade meetings. There 

was an immense platform to accommodate the choir 

and the speakers, and there were tiers of seats built 

up in a semi-circle round this. When the hall was 

filled with worshippers it was an impressive sight. A 

request was launched for Counsellors. At the 

meetings it was to be the practice to invite people to 

step forward in their acknowledgement of their 

belief in Christ. The counsellors were to speak to 

those people and to give them a helpful booklet 

which was interdenominational. 

 

Preparation classes were held at various centres and 

several members of Anniesland Cross attended the 

meeting held in the Mission Hall in Great Western 

Road. The addresses were sincere and made us 

examine our belief more closely. Those who spoke 

had a firm grip of the Bible and were spending 

themselves in preaching God's Word. Many more 

offered their services than were needed and only a 

few of our congregation went forward as 

counsellors. However, when the Crusade began in 

March, several members sang in the choir, a number 

helped with the stewarding, and others attended the 

prayer meetings. It was a grand experience to see all 

these people, who had various differences in their 
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way of worship and in their form of church 

government, uniting together. 

 

Many  criticised the campaign for various reasons-

its publicity, its mass meetings, its request that 

people should make quick decisions to accept 

Christ's sacrifice for them and to go forward 

publicly in acknowledgement of this. It was argued 

that the unbeliever in the street was not really being 

reached, and that the majority of those who attended 

were already church members or adherents. On the 

other hand during this period religion, God and the 

Bible were given attention in ordinary conversation. 

People were discussing, listening and witnessing 

with unaccustomed freedom. If we may say so 

reverently, religion became fashionable. It is not for 

us to judge the success of such a campaign, but we 

do know that many people benefited tremendously 

in a strengthening and in a re-awakening of their 

faith; others came to give God's Word a definite 

place in their lives. What about Anniesland Cross--

was any difference evident there? Some new 

members were welcomed who had come as a result 

of the meetings-not very many. But a great 

difference was to be seen in the numbers attending 

the mid-week services. As has been mentioned 

already, this monthly mid-week prayer meeting was 

begun in 1950 and had continued during the years. 

After the "Crusade" there was a need for Bible 

Study felt by the congregation themselves and so 

this meeting, now weekly, was adapted to it. A large 

number attended and the group started by studying 

Paul's letter to the Philippians. We all enjoyed the 

fellowship of that large gathering which lasted 

through the summer months and divided into two 

groups in September to accommodate those busy 

with other winter activities. The discussion makes 

every one think hard and many passages are more 

real to us when  they have been puzzled over with 

other members. Those who attend are always very 

thankful to be able to refer to Dr. Thomson's 

knowledge. 

 

In April 1955 we learned with much pleasure and 

with a sense of pride that the minister had been 

accorded the degree of Doctor of Philosophy by the 

University of  Glasgow. We all recognised in the 

minister a great students as well as an able teacher 

and those who had heard him speak about the Old 

Testament at outside meetings were  not surprised to 

hear that it was on this study that his  thesis had 

been based, his subject being "The Religious and 

Cultural Environment of Israel in the time of the 

Judges." 

                 

By way of congratulating him and at the same time 

showing our appreciation of the work he was doing 

amongst us, the congregation contributed to new 

robes for the minister. A social evening was held on 

20th April. It began with a cup of tea in the hall 

followed by a gathering in the church itself. Many 

well known friends of the congregation as well as 

members made up the "platform" party in the 

chancel and the body of the church was well filled. 

It was like one big family turned out to honour the 

minister and a feeling of real fellowship prevailed.  

 

Mr. Cockburn of Jordanhill Church paid tribute to 

the  minister's learning and spoke of his many 

qualities which we ourselves knew so well. Mr. 

Russell Anderson treated us to reminiscences of 

bygone days and we chuckled in the pews at some 

of his tales. Mr. David Paton was in the chair and 

among other things, he had the pleasure of 

enlightening us as to the minister's carefree holiday 

reading. It seems that he was found near the sands 

one sunny day absorbed in a book written in Syriac 

and Greek. This appealed to us all enormously but 

no one chuckled more than Doctor Thomson 

himself. Reference was made to his new blue Ford 

and from there we went on to this story. A minister 

on his way to Stranraer by car was unfortunate in 

having a breakdown. A young man in a racing 

model drew up and unable to help in mending the 

car he did the next best thing-offered a tow. So off 

they went on their way speeding along at 60 m.p.h.-

the poor clergyman managing as best as he could. 

No sooner had they passed the first village than the 

policeman was on the phone to warn his colleague 

up the line.  "There's a mad man coming through at 

80 m.p.h.," he spluttered "and there's a minister 

behind trying to pass him." 

 

Other addresses were given by Mrs. D. B. Paton, 

Mrs. Lawson, Mr. D. Allen, Mr. J. Bishop and Mr. 

Thomson Deas. During the evening we had the 
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pleasure of hearing solos sung by Mrs. Hart and 

Miss Helen Allen and also a by Misses Patricia Dick 

and Margaret McCook The minister was graciously 

robed by Mrs. S. Orr, one of  the oldest members of 

the congregation. It was a moving moment. The 

minister replied. He thanked us all for our gift to 

him, cast his thoughts to the eight years which gone 

before and looked ahead to the activity and 

fulfilment of the years to come. He spoke humbly of 

his achievement and of the long hours of study in 

his own leisure time that had gone into it. He said 

that he was finding his new "title" rather strange and 

that we were not to worry if we forgot it sometimes, 

because he was having considerable difficulty in 

recognising himself as Dr. Thomson. 

 

 There was a note of pride and happiness that 

evening and yet there was a note of sadness also. All 

realized that the minister must be feeling deeply the 

absence of those who were so dear to him-his wife 

and his parents. He paid tribute to them who had not 

been spared to share his honour with him. The 

evening will long be remembered by all who 

attended-it was a very "human" one and seemed to 

bind us together in a feeling of mutual affection and 

understanding. 

 

Another impressive service was held on the evening 

of June 5th. It was a service of dedication when 

Miss Brenda Young, M.A. was set apart for service 

on the Foreign Mission Field. Miss Young had 

taught in the Sunday School for five years and was 

for a time the editor of the Congregational Monthly. 

For many years she had a desire to work for God in 

foreign lands and this service was, as it were, the 

end of the beginning. After teaching in Glasgow for 

two years, she spent a third year training in St. 

Colm's Missionary College, Edinburgh. At the 

service the questions and responses were solemn 

indeed and brought home to the large gathering the 

importance of the step being taken by one of our 

own members. Miss Young sailed in August 1955 

and is at present teaching in the Women's Training 

College, Umuahia, East Nigeria.It is interesting to 

note that in 1916 Miss Peacock went from our 

church to work as a missionary in the same part of 

the world. She was stationed at the Calabar Mission, 

made famous by Mary Slessor. 

 

For some time the boys of Scout age in the 

congregation had been without a special 

organisation for themselves.The Scouts and Cubs 

had been in difficulties chiefly owing to the fact that 

most of the officers had left the district- Mr. Alistair 

Lowe, Mr. and Mrs. Blacklaws and Miss Maisie 

Blacklaws. Miss Margaret Ramsay continued with 

the Cubs but she was soon to be married and was 

going to live in Kilmarnock. In the summer of 1955 

several members met together to form the Boys' 

Brigade. Mr. George Lawson, himself a B.B. man, 

was the captain and help was given by Mr. Ian 

Burns and by others who  had similar experience. 

The Life Boys were formed under the capable 

guidance of Miss Jean Findlater. She had willing 

helpers and the hard work and enthusiasm of all the 

officers in both organisations have been well 

rewarded. In March 1956 the Boys' Brigade was 

enrolled as the 247th Glasgow Company and at the 

same time the Life Boys were officially recognised. 

Both held displays in the month of May and are now 

firmly established sections of our church life. 

 

In November 1955 the Primary Sunday School was 

sorry to see Miss Greig resign from her place as 

leader. She had been the leader of the Sunday 

School since 1925 and had been a teacher previous 

to that. Miss Greig had given most generously of her 

time to build up the morning worship of the little 

ones. What a great amount of thought and care must 

have been given in preparing to interest these tiny 

tots. One Communion Sunday it was arranged that 

several of the Primary teachers should be free to 

take part in the morning service while Senior 

teachers did their best to fill the gaps. We then, as 

outsiders, saw just how much these young ones 

enjoy their morning Sunday School. Miss Greig, 

aided by willing helpers, worked tremendously hard 

during these years and in return received happiness 

and satisfaction in a job well done. It is fitting at this 

point to speak of Miss Margaret Orr who founded 

the Primary Sunday School over thirty years ago. 

Miss Orr one of the early builders of our church life. 

She died in April 1952 after a long illness, 

throughout which she never wavered in her 

profound faith in God. The leadership has now 

fallen to Miss Sheena Bell who is continuing the 
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work with ability and enthusiasm. 

 

In October 1955 the Session received the resignation 

of Mr Robert N. Browning, B.Sc., who had been 

organist in the church for 9 years. In December Mr. 

William B. Watson. L.R.A.M., F.T.C.L., was 

appointed as his successor. Under his guidance the 

senior choir have given musical items in the church. 

They also sang at the Annual General Meeting in 

February and this interlude was very much 

appreciated. 

 

1956 opened with the good news that Anniesland 

Cross Church was completely free of debt for the 

first time in the last nine years. We had taken on 

responsibilities during that time, in the ground debt 

and in the repairs and redecoration and these, 

combined with the rising cost of everything, had 

presented us with quite a bill. We had been guided 

through this period by our capable treasurer Mr. 

Baillie and a clean sheet at the beginning of the year 

was ample evidence of his skill as a chancellor as 

well as showing the liberality of the congregation. 

There is a membership of over 900 and we should 

be able to place ourselves on a firm financial basis; 

still with a loaf costing 10d., a pint of milk 7d., plus 

coal at 7/9d. a bag, living at all can be quite an 

achievement. We shudder to think that a member of 

a later generation may pick this up and say "Things 

were cheap in those days". 

 

At the Annual General Meeting in February, Mr. 

Baillie pointed out that we could not afford to sit 

back and contentedly review our position because 

there was still much to be done and funds would be 

needed to do it. The organ which was bought in 

1920 from Berkeley Street U.F. Church is much in 

need of an overhaul. For this we could expect a bill 

of about £300. New linoleum is needed for the 

church and new chairs would be welcome in the 

hall. Since that meeting an improvement has been 

made  in the kitchen. The sink which was 

awkwardly placed in little more than a cubby hole, 

has been removed and in the kitchen there is now a 

new one which has a draining board, a chrome tap 

and an Ascot heater into the bargain. The task of 

washing up should be a degree more popular than 

before. 

                

 The end of the financial year was soon followed by 

outings and parties which wound up the activities of 

the winter.  

 

One Sunday in June we had the pleasure of being 

addressed by Rev. William Shannon, M.A., the 

minister of Netherton-St. Matthew's. In 1898 

Anniesland Cross had been formed as an extension 

of the Maryhill U.P. Church and so in turn St. 

Matthew's was an extension which we sponsored in 

1948. Many of our members gave generous help in 

the establishing of this new place of worship. In 

1955 it ceased to be an extension charge and became 

a church in full status. Mr. Shannon acknowledged 

the foresight of Anniesland Cross and took the 

opportunity of thanking the people on behalf of his 

own congregation. We are confident that St. 

Matthew's-a kind of third generation-with its sincere 

young minister and thriving membership will 

continue to strengthen in the years to come. 

 

The month of September brings us to our own 

Jubilee services and following shortly on that the 

tenth anniversary of Dr. Thomson's induction to our 

church. In these ten years we have grown to know 

our minister well and to hold him in esteem and 

affection. Dr. Thomson is a  man of great learning; 

we can discern that for ourselves without turning to 

the honours which the academic world has bestowed 

upon him. Among other things, he is a member of 

the Oriental Society-a group of some seventy people 

who have specialist knowledge of Eastern languages

-and recently he was nominated as a member of the 

Society of Old Testament Study. Qualifications for 

membership are, in both cases, of a high order. Yet 

we are not a congregation suffering from mental 

indigestion-Dr. Thomson keeps his sermons simple 

and far from over- loading them he chooses a short 

message to drive home. Variety has been added to 

the evening service. One time the minister answered 

questions put forward by the Young People's Guild. 

As he did not see the questions beforehand the 

replies were quite spontaneous. Another time the 

service was put into the hands of the young people 

when they led the prayers and gave three short 

addresses. Often Dr. Thomson chooses a difficult 

parable and giving us an insight into its background, 
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he clears away our misunderstanding so that the 

meaning of the story falls into place. Many will 

remember one sermon this winter when he took the 

parable of the king, in Matthew 22 who gave the 

wedding feast. At the beginning we felt sorry for the 

man who was not dressed in a garment fit for the 

occasion and because of this was cast into outer 

darkness. Dr. Thomson led us to the point where we 

realise that men in their arrogance and pride 

consider themselves fit to stand before God as they 

are; whereas we are acceptable to God only if we 

are clad in the righteousness which a belief in Christ 

and His sacrifice brings.  

Much was learned that evening. 

 

In these past years the roll has greatly increased-

from under 600 members in October 1946 to about 

930 in 1956. This means quite a bit of visiting for 

Dr. Thomson and coupled with visitation of 

members who are ill at home or in hospital it takes 

about 2 years to get round everyone. The minister 

has indicated that he prefers to make calls which are 

not too brief so that he can come to know his 

members better-this method takes more time but has 

the great advantage of establishing a firmer 

friendship. 

              

In all his work Dr. Thomson is assisted by an able 

Kirk Session and Board. The Kirk Session concerns 

itself with the spiritual life of the church whereas the 

Board is busy with the material side-questions about 

heating, cleaning, allocation of halls being to the 

fore. 

 

Mr.David Paton who has been Session Clerk since 

1948 continues to hold the post capably. Always 

ready to help, he meets any situations which arise 

with patience and quiet humour. He also takes a full 

share in the work of the Presbytery doing deputation 

work for the Maintenance of the Ministry 

Committee (and also a special Assembly 

Commission) and he has just been appointed Vice-

Convener of the Presbytery's Finance Committee. 

 

Mr. Duncan Allen as Clerk to the Congregational 

Board conducts his side in a business-like manner. 

He did much work in connection with the appeal for 

funds at the time of the redecoration and his energy 

and enthusiasm carried us through the last tiring 

months of it. 

 

Mr. Martin as Assistant Session Clerk brings a 

serenity and a moderation which are appreciated at 

the meetings. He is our Presbytery Elder and also 

the Church Roll Keeper-a duty, which owing to 

numerous changes of address recently, has been 

quite exacting. 

 

The Session and Board, we may say, are made up of 

people who are very much alive and often healthy 

controversy and discussion take place. However, the 

Moderator directs operations with considerable tact 

and quite a firm hand. 

 

Dr. Thomson again showed his devotion to his work 

amongst us when he consented to spend a time, after 

the close of his own Bible Class, preparing Sunday 

School teachers for the following week. The 

preparation has  been much appreciated over the 

past three years as the presentation of a lesson can 

be quite a tricky business. This is an enjoyable half-

hour for minister and teachers alike and many a 

chuckle there is too. One day we were  studying the 

lesson where Jesus, standing on the shore of  the 

lake, directs the fishing of the disciples. Remember  

the net which had hitherto been empty was drawn in 

with, as the Bible says, 153 fish in it. We were 

asked if we realized the significance of this number 

and being honest and negative in our reply we were 

quite consoled to see Dr. Thomson smile and to hear 

him say, " Frankly, until I read the notes, neither did 

I 

 

In these years which have gone in so speedily we 

have seen both the sun and the shadow in Dr. 

Thomson's own life. We saw him bowed down 

under a great grief and yet we saw his faith bearing 

him up to continue with his work amongst us. We 

can give thanks that we have a minister who has not 

only preached God's Will and God's promises for us 

but who has shown us a life lived in the strength of 

Jesus Christ.  

 

We take a last look at our church before we leave it 

to The future. 
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The organisations are fulfilling their responsibilities 

by directing the energy of our members into healthy 

useful,channels and yet are fundamentally drawing 

their strength from the spiritual side of the church. 

We, as members, have come to the realisation that 

the church is there so that we may come to know 

God and worship Him in His holy place. Other 

aspects of church work fall into perspective as 

expressions of our faith. Anniesland Cross, with 

fifty years behind it, has reached a point in its 

maturity and continues to tick away steadily as a 

small part of Christ's Church on earth. May we place 

ourselves in His Hands so that His Will be done in 

the years ahead. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Epilogue 

 

So we come to the end of this account of our recent 

history. What of the future ? He would be a daring  

man who would venture to prophesy far ahead, for  

we live in a time of short horizons, in spite of our 

plans to conquer outer space. So for the future we 

can only say, that we cannot imagine any kind of 

future in which men will not need Jesus Christ; and 

so our task is to continue to work for His Kingdom. 

 

Let me spotlight two things from these past years 

which probably seem more important to me than to 

others. Both have to do with the Bible. One is the 

way in which through these years boys and girls 

have answered the Bible questions given in my talks 

to the children on Sunday mornings. 1 think they 

have become really skilful at it;  and 1 feel sure they 

must have learned to know their Bible better as a 

result-I know 1 have ! The other is  my own Bible 

Class; that is a part of a minister's work which 1 

have always found fascinating and valuable, and 

when 1 look around the Congregational Board, or  

the Sunday School teachers, or the Choir, or the 

leaders of the uniformed organisations, and see the 

ex-members of my class taking up their full share of 

responsibility in the life of the Church, 1 feel 

heartened and encouraged.I thank all past and 

present members of my Bible Class, who have 

helped me in many ways, perhaps without realising 

it. 

 

What do we take with us into the future ? I take first, 

the great friendliness of the congregation. This 

matters a lot to the minister, and it matters very 

much also to the stranger coming in to a service, 

perhaps looking for a Church to join. What a 

difference it makes too, in the life of the 

congregation itself. The second thing I take out of 

the past into the future, as a potent factor in the life 

of our Church, is the work and example of those 

who have gone before us, especially those who have 

died during  these past seven years, yet whose 

influence remains and has shaped for good the 

various parts of our life. Besides  those who have 

been mentioned in these pages and in the previous 

booklet, 1 think for instance of men like Gilbert 

Foster, Samuel Graham and Thomas Wilson in the 

Men's  Guild, who by their. bright, friendly 

Christian faith and example have influenced the 

whole nature of the Guild, so that its present 

members reap the benefits of that, and continue it. 

"Their works do follow them." I think naturally of 

my wife, whose influence for good in this Church 

has been well shown in these pages. That too 

remains, in the Woman's Guild and other sides of 

the Church's work and witness. After almost six 

years, the sense of loss is still sharp; but our 

thoughts, while turning back to the past in grateful 

and loving remembrance, look forward with hope 

and trust to the day when in the joy of His Kingdom 

we shall meet again those whom we have lost 

awhile.                

 

That thought leads to us to the third thing we take 

into the future with us, the supremely great fact in 

the life of individual or Church-the love of Christ. 
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Look back on our past, and in spite of our human 

failures, it is there to see; and many have come to 

know that love, or to know it more fully, in 

Anniesland Cross. Whatever the future may hold for 

us, we can be sure of this: that Christ is there also. 

 

Be still, my soul: thy God doth undertake 

To guide the future as He has the past. 

Thy hope, thy confidence let nothing shake; 

All now mysterious shall be bright at last." 

 

 

MEMBERS OF KIRK SESSION 

 

The following are the members of the Kirk Session, 

with the date of their admission: 

 

Rev. Dr. H. C. THOMSON, Moderator  1946 

D. B. PATON, Clerk  1933 

H. MARTIN, Assistant Clerk    1947 

 

A. VEITCH   1930 

J. STEVENSON        1935 

R. BAILLIE                               1940 

C. SWANN           1941 

J. HISLOP                      1942 

A. NEIL                          1942 

G. LAWSON               1947 

 

D. ALLEN                        1948 

W. BOYD             1949 

D. PATTERSON    1948 

W. BROWNING          1949 

G. DICKSON  1949 

R. MURDOCH  1949 

J. ROWATT  1949 

T. TAYLOR  1949 

J. ARNOTT   1951 

J. BISHOP  1951 

J. CAUSER 1951 

J. CHAMBERS 1951 

W. FERGUSON 1951 

D. MASSICKS 1951 

W. PORTER 1951 

A. BLACKLAWS 1953 

G. BUIST 1953 

J. FINLAY 1953 

T. HAMILTON 1953 

A. McNICOL 1953 

R. PATON 1953 

D. THOMSON 1953 

A. ANDERSON 1955 

W. GIBB 1955 

J. LAWRIE 1955 

J. McNAUGHTON 1955 

 

 

 

The following are the additional Congregational 

Board 

Mr. D. C. ALLEN being the Clerk and Mr. R. Ballie 

the Treasurer: 

Mrs. Andrews, Miss Greig, Mrs. Lawson, Miss 

Corrnick, Miss MacLean, Mrs. Walker, Messrs. M. 

Anderson, 1. Burns, J. Carruthers, B. Cowan, J. 

Cran, N. Glassford, G. Horn,  

J. McConnell, T. McCook, J. McGechie, H. 

McVean, D. Paton, jr., R. Silver, J. Taggart, J. 

Taylor and J. Thomson. 


